FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
8/18/2023 10:57 AM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102287-5

No. 56441-6-II

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON AT TACOMA

Herbert L. Whitehead, III, Jennifer L. Whitehead, Southwest Enterprises, LLC, Mt. View Enterprises, LLC, Whitehead Consulting, LLC and Whitehead Enterprises, LLC,

Petitioner

VS.

Kenneth Wren and Alice Wren, et al.

Respondents.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

William A. Kinsel, WSBA #18077 Attorney for Respondents Wren Kinsel Law Offices, PLLC 2401 Fourth Avenue, Suite 850 Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 706-8148

## **

D.	Statement of the Case	
	1.	This Appeal Arose from a CR 54(b) Final Judgment Following Summary Judgment
	2.	Scope of Appeal8
	3.	Background
	4.	The Wrens Execute on Their Security11
	5.	Defendant Makers Owed \$886,432.17, plus Late Charges, Fees, and Costs on the 2010 LOC Through Maturity on March 13, 2020
	6.	Whitehead Enterprises Loans of \$160,00015
E.	Argu	ment Why Review Should Be Accepted17
	1.	The Supreme Court Should Accept Review Either to Clarify or Decide that Checks are Subject to Hearst17
		a. Hearst States That the Objective Manifestation Theory of Contracts Applies to Instruments, and Checks are Instruments
	2.	Judge Schwartz Properly Applied the Context Rule27
	3.	The Supreme Court Should Accept Review of the Judicial Estoppel Issue
F.	Conc	clusion

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

## Cases

<u>Anfinson v. FedEx Ground Package Sys., Inc.,</u> 174 Wash. 2d 851, 861, 281 P.3d 289 (2012)
Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wash.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)
<u>Hearst Comme'ns v. Seattle Times Co.,</u> 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)
Hollis v. Garwall, Inc., 137 Wn.2d 683, 695-96, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)
<u>In re Est. of Larson,</u> 71 Wn.2d 349, 354, 428 P.2d 558 (1967)
<u>State Department of Fisheries v J-Z Sales Corporation,</u> 25 Wash.App. 671, 680-681, 610 P.2d 390 (1980)
<u>State v. Comer</u> , 176 Wash. 257, 28 P.2d 1027 (1934)24
<u>State v. Richards,</u> 97 Wash. 587, 167 P. 47. (p. 266, 28 P.2d p. 1031)
<u>Washington Federal Sav. &amp; Loan Ass'n v. Alsager,</u> 165 Wash.App. 10, 14, 266 P.3d 905 (2011)
Statutes
RCW 62A.3-104
Rules
CR 54(b)passim
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4)2-5, 17, 27
RAP 13.4(b)(4)

## **APPENDIX**

- 1. May 9, 2023 Unpublished Opinion
- 2. July 19, 2023 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration
- 3. RCW 62A.3-104

#### A. Identity of Petitioners

The Petitioners are Kenneth and Alice Wren, plaintiffs in Pierce County Superior Court and Respondents on the appeal filed by the "Defendant Makers" of a 2010 Line of Credit ("2010 LOC").

The "Makers" are Herbert and Jennifer Whitehead, plus certain LLCs owned by them: Southwest Enterprises, Mt. View Enterprises, and Whitehead Consulting. Whitehead Enterprises is not a Maker of that note. CP 1524-1528, at CP 1524.

#### B. Decision

The Petitioners seek review of the May 9, 2023 opinion of Division II in Wren v. Stanford and Sons, LLC, Herbert L. Whitehead III, et al., No. 56441-6-II ("5/9/23 Opinion").

Petitioners also seek review of the July 19, 2023 Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration ("7/9/23 Order").

#### **C.** Issues Presented for Review

Issue 1. Is a check an "instrument" for purposes of the objective manifestation theory of contracts explained in

<u>Hearst Commc'ns v. Seattle Times Co.</u>, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005)?

Answer: The Court of Appeals thinks this is an issue of first impression. (5/9/23 Opinion, p. 16.) By contrast, Petitioners conclude that it explicitly falls within the scope of Hearst, at p. 503, and In re Est. of Larson, 71 Wn.2d 349, 353, 428 P.2d 558 (1967). Either way, the answer is Yes, a check is an instrument for purposes of the objective manifestation theory of contracts. RCW 62A.3-104. Checks stating in the "memo" line that they are either loan repayments, or loans themselves, leave no room for interpretation and must be enforced as such under Larson, Hearst and Berg. The Court of Appeals accordingly erred by holding the contrary. (5/9/23) Opinion, pp. 15-17.) Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

Issue 2. Does the objective manifestation theory of Hearst, paired with the "context rule" of Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wash.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990), prevent the use of

extrinsic evidence, e.g., the subjective intent of Whitehead, to vary or contradict the written words of the loan payments at issue?

Answer: Yes, Hearst and Berg, as explained in Hearst at p. 503, prohibit the use of extrinsic evidence to "show an intention independent of the instrument," or to "vary, contradict or modify the written word[s]" contained within those instruments. Here, the Court of Appeals erred by agreeing that Whitehead should be permitted to present at trial his alleged subjective intent that the word "loan" really means "wages" for the express purpose of contradicting and rewriting the words appearing on the instruments at issue. (5/9/23 Opinion, p. 16.) Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

Issue 3. Can extrinsic evidence, including
Whitehead's tax returns that reported no income, be properly
used as evidence under the <u>Berg</u> context rule to confirm that
the only reasonable interpretation of "loan" is loan?

Answer: Yes. Superior Court Judge Michael Schwartz properly used this type of extrinsic evidence, e.g., the failure of Whitehead to report any taxable income on his IRS tax returns for the relevant years, to assess the reasonableness of the respective interpretations urged by the parties. The Court of Appeals holding to the contrary, at 5/9/23 Opinion p. 10, is in error and should be reviewed under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

Issue 4. Is a party prohibited from alleging an unlawful intent, e.g., here the intent to hinder, delay or defraud the Whiteheads' judgment creditors known as LeClercq, and to avoid the payment of federal income taxes, when the actual 2010 LOC and checks as written and performed were entirely lawful and proper loan transactions?

Answer: Yes. A loan contract, legal in its presentation and performance, is not subject to a "reasonable" alternative interpretation, as required by <u>Hearst</u> and <u>Berg</u>, when that alternative interpretation admits to an intent to

defraud both private parties and the US government. The Court of Appeals erred by holding to the contrary and permitting Defendant Makers to assert this argument to a fact finder. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (4).

Issue 5. Does the equitable doctrine of judicial estoppel apply when a party (Whitehead) asserts contradictory factual positions in two different lawsuits pending before Pierce County Superior Court at different times, once personally in his own sworn declaration and the other through the declaration of another individual, whose declaration Whitehead actively sought and participated in preparing?

Answer: Yes. In 2013 Whitehead caused Pierce

County Superior Court to be misled, to his own advantage and to the disadvantage of his judgment creditors LeClercqs, by soliciting and helping to prepare a declaration from Kenneth Brautigan swearing under oath that Whitehead owed Stanford and Sons significant sums under the 2010 LOC. Whitehead

now claims in this lawsuit that that 2013 declaration was a farce and, in effect, admits that its submission was designed to prevent the LeClercqs from collecting on their judgment.

Under these circumstances, the equitable factors relevant to judicial estoppel are satisfied. That doctrine should be applied to prevent Whitehead from denying that the payments he received were, in fact, loans under the 2010 LOC.

Accordingly, the 5/9/23 Opinion errs at p. 13 when it holds to the contrary. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

Issue 6. Should the default interest rate of 36% in the CR 54(b) Judgment be affirmed?

Answer: Yes. While the Court of Appeals did not reach this issue, as a matter of judicial efficiency this Court should affirm that default interest rate under <u>Hearst</u> and <u>Berg</u>, rather than remanding for further consideration.

#### **D.** Statement of the Case

1. This Appeal Arose from a CR 54(b) Final Judgment Following Summary Judgment

On December 3, 2021, the Pierce County Superior Court entered in favor of Petitioners the CR 54(b) Final Judgment found at CP 1072-1077. The judgment holds in part that the Defendant Makers are liable for failing to repay the March 13, 2010 Line of Credit to the note's holders, Kenneth and Alice Wren, when that note matured on March 13, 2020. (CP 1520-1523.)

On May 9, 2023, Division II entered its opinion reversing the CR 54(b) Judgment. On July 19, 2023, after requesting briefing from appellants in response to the Wrens' Motion for Reconsideration, the Court of Appeals denied said motion.

The Supreme Court's review of the appellate court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is de novo. Hearst, 154 Wash.2d at 501. Because there are no material issues of fact in dispute, but only the proper

application of <u>Hearst</u> and <u>Berg</u> to a review of the evidence, the trial court's CR 54(b) Judgment was properly entered. <u>Id.</u> Accordingly, the opinion of the Court of Appeals should be reversed, while the CR 54(b) Judgment of the Honorable Michael E. Schwartz should be affirmed and reinstated.

## 2. Scope of Appeal

Defendant Makers identified two Assignments of
Error to the Court of Appeals. The limited scope of those
assignments help focus this Petition for Review. The
first assignment reads:

A. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment, because there are issues of material fact as to whether any money was ever lent under the line of credit, as well as accounting issues.

(Brief of Appellants, p. 6, emphasis added.) The Defendant Makers' argument is that there are material issues of fact supporting the conclusion that <u>no money</u> was ever loaned under the 2010 LOC. Despite the implication of the last clause of that assignment of error,

Defendant Makers did <u>not</u> argue on appeal that any particular check was improperly identified as a loan, or as a loan repayment, but rather that the evidence creates a material issue of fact permitting a jury to conclude that no loan, or loan repayment, ever occurred. The limited nature of this assignment of error has a significant impact on the analysis of this Petition, and helps lead to the conclusion that Judge Schwartz's CR 54(b) Judgment should be reinstated in full.

The second assignment of error asserts that "B. The trial court erred when it rendered the default interest at 36% per annum." (Brief of Appellants, p. 6.) While the appellate did not address this assignment in its opinion because of its reversal of the CR 54(b) Judgment, this issue too is controlled by <u>Hearst</u> and the state statutes governing interest rates for contracts that serve a business purpose.

## 3. Background

On July 16, 2019, Stanford and Sons, LLC defaulted on its loan obligations to the Wrens on two notes with the original principal balances of \$1,200,000 and \$500,000. (CP 1171, 1536, 1618-19, 1644.) After that default, Stanford and Sons assigned its various assets to Petitioners. Among those assets were the 2010 LOC and deed of trust that are subject to the CR 54(b) Judgment. (CP 1517-1528.) As the trial court determined in the same summary judgment ruling that resulted in the CR 54(b) Judgment, the debt owed by Stanford and Sons was \$1,187,872.89. (CP 819.)

Significantly, no party disputed on summary judgment the accuracy of the calculation by Petitioners' expert witness Nicola Bley Asquith of the \$1,187,872.89 debt owed by Stanford and Sons to the Wrens, as set forth in CP 589-591, 601-608, ¶¶7-14, Exhibits A and B. If Defendant Makers had any basis to dispute the

accuracy of Asquith's calculations, or the basis of her expert opinions on the same, they were obligated to have presented that evidence below. They did not do so.

#### 4. The Wrens Execute on Their Security

Following the July 2019 default, the Commercial Security Agreement imposed on Stanford and Sons as Grantor, and on the Brautigans as the sole member and Guarantors of the debt, the duty to assemble and deliver all assets available to them to repay the debts owed to the Wrens. (Wren Dec., ¶¶7, 11, Ex D., p. 6¶ "Assemble Collateral", Ex H., p. 6 ¶ "Assemble Collateral", at CP 1535, 1536, 1550 & 1565.) Consistent with those contractual rights and obligations, the Wrens exercised their secured-party rights and entered into a Bill of Conveyance in Lieu of Foreclosure and a First Amendment to Bill of Conveyance in Lieu of Foreclosure with Stanford and Sons and Brautigan.

(Wren Dec., ¶¶7-8, 15-16, Exs D, E, K & L at CP 1534-1580.)

The 2010 LOC and Deed to Trust between

Stanford and Sons and the Whiteheads were among the assets subject to delivery to Petitioners. That conveyance was subsequently recorded on October 29, 2019. (CP 1517-1528.)

5. Defendant Makers Owed \$886,432.17, plus Late Charges, Fees, and Costs on the 2010 LOC Through Maturity on March 13, 2020

The only asserted "facts" presented in opposition to the motion for summary judgment were in a 9/20/21 Declaration of Butch Whitehead. (CP 683-804.) None succeeds in creating a dispute over a material fact.

Paragraphs 9-33 of Whitehead's declaration, at CP 687-693, do purport to address the Defendant Makers' liability under the 2010 LOC. However, only three of those paragraphs arguably address the issue of the accuracy of Asquith's calculations, or of her attributions

of payments as loans to the 2010 LOC balance. The first is ¶9, CP 687, where in the first sentence Whitehead states that "Neither Wren, nor Nicola Bley Asquith, were involved in any of the day-to-day activities of Stanford and Sons at any time." Whitehead misses the point, though, that Asquith is an expert testifying as to the amount owed under the 2010 LOC based on her review of the documents (e.g., loan checks). Therefore, the "fact" that Asquith was not involved in the day-to-day activities of Stanford and Sons is neither relevant nor material.

Next, in ¶20 of his declaration, CP 690, Whitehead challenges the accuracy of Asquith's calculation of the amounts owed under the 2010 LOC by claiming that her calculation did not match the calculation he helped prepare for a declaration signed by Brautigan in August 2013.

In terms of a challenge, ¶20 falls flat. First, in the preceding ¶¶16-19 of his declaration (CP 689-690),

Whitehead describes what he and Brautigan did in

August 2013 to use the 2010 LOC to fend off

Whitehead's judgment creditor First Nicholas LeClercq and Susan LeClercq Family LLC ("LeClercq"). That admission includes Whitehead's assertion that

Brautigan's declaration was knowingly inaccurate. So, if Brautigan's declaration was inaccurate, why would

Asquith's summary judgment calculations match it?

Next, in what appears to have convinced the Court of Appeals that material issues of fact exist, Whitehead claims that even though "Brautigan would write 'loan' on the checks", id., ¶25, l.19, CP 691, those checks were really compensation. Id., CP 691, ¶22, l.5. The legal issues related to this belated about-face are dealt with below. As a matter of fact, the key issues are this: First, Whitehead admits knowing that each check contained a

memo indicating the money was a loan, yet he voluntarily deposited each check in his bank account. Second, Whitehead failed to identify a single check that was included in Asquith's calculation in Exhibit C to her declaration, at CP 609-613, that was not properly identified as a "loan" check. Thus, there is no factual dispute that she accurately identified and included in her Exhibit C only checks that were stated to be loans, and just as importantly, that she *excluded* checks, such as those after March 2016, that did *not* state they were loans.

#### 6. Whitehead Enterprises Loans of \$160,000

Petitioners moved for reconsideration of the 5/9/23

Opinion, which reversed the portion of the CR 54(b) Final

Judgment at CP 1075, ¶3 dismissing the Defendant Makers'

Counterclaim No. 1 that alleged Stanford and Sons owes

Whitehead Enterprises \$160,000. Those notes were debt

obligations running from Stanford and Sons to Whitehead

Enterprises, the latter of which was not a "Maker" of the 2010 LOC. (CP 1524.) On appeal, Whitehead never explained how Whitehead Enterprises had any rights under the 2010 LOC. Thus, it is impossible for the Wrens to owe anything to Defendant Makers under the 2010 LOC for those six Whitehead Enterprise notes.

In addition to the lack of any legal obligation running from the Wrens to Whitehead Enterprises, the 5/9/23 Opinion permits Whitehead to use his alleged subjective intent about the purpose of a loan repayment received *from* Stanford and Sons between 2010 and 2013 to question the subjective intent of *Stanford and Sons* while writing the checks for those repayments. (CP 687-693; Defendant Makers' Response to Motion for Reconsideration at p. 2.) Defendant Makers do so while ignoring the proof of repayment that was presented to the trial court, which established that those six separate loans were repaid by 2013. CP 1297, 1299, 1301, 1309, 1312, 1314, 1315, 1317, 1319, 1321, 1323 and 1325. Those checks bear

handwritten notations "Loan Repayment" and "Whitehead Ent.

Loan Repayment."

#### E. Argument Why Review Should Be Accepted

1. The Supreme Court Should Accept Review Either to Clarify or Decide that Checks are Subject to <u>Hearst</u>

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) apply and support acceptance of review because either Petitioners are correct and the Court of Appeals erred by holding that <u>Hearst</u> does not apply to checks (e.g., negotiable instruments under RCW 62A.3-104), or the Court of Appeals is correct, and this is a matter of first impression requiring the Supreme Court to determine an issue of substantial public interest impacting the near-daily personal and commercial financial transactions of virtually all of the State's adult residents.

a. Hearst States That the Objective
Manifestation Theory of Contracts
Applies to Instruments, and Checks are
Instruments

The need for this Court's review of the 5/9/23 Opinion is derived directly from that Opinion:

We interpret written instruments as a matter of law. In re Est. of Larson, 71 Wn.2d 349, 354, 428 P.2d 558 (1967). Courts "generally give words in a contract their ordinary, usual, and popular meaning unless the entirety of the agreement clearly demonstrates a contrary intent," and "[w]e impute an intention corresponding to the reasonable meaning of the words used." Hearst Commc'ns, v. Seattle Times Co., 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-04, 115 P.3d 262 (2005). The Washington Supreme Court has "explained that surrounding circumstances and other extrinsic evidence are to be used 'to determine the meaning of specific words and terms used' and not to 'show an intention independent of the instrument' or to 'vary, contradict or modify the written word." Id. At 503 (quoting *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695-96, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)). But Wren has pointed us to no authority, and we have found none, that applies *Hearst* to checks, and specifically something written on the memo line on a check.

## 3. Application to the present case

The trial court concluded that there was no genuine dispute of material fact that S&S loaned Whitehead money under the line of credit, about the amount of money owed, or that Whitehead defaulted on repaying the loans. Because there was a genuine question of material fact about whether the funds were loans, we reverse.

(5/9/23 Opinion, pp. 14-15.) The final sentence of that quotation highlights what Division II found to be the material issue of fact preventing entry, and thus resulted in the reversal of, the CR 54(b) Judgment. Namely, were the funds loans? As

specified by the Defendant Makers, that issue is a generic one, rather than a check-by-check analysis, as the error assigned below was "whether <u>any money was ever lent</u> under the line of credit". (Brief of Appellants, p. 6, emphasis added.)

The Supreme Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because both <u>Larson</u>, 71 Wn.2d at 354, and <u>Hearst</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 503-04, explicitly state that Washington's courts are to interpret written <u>instruments</u> as a matter of law, not fact, and as pointed out in the Motion for Reconsideration, checks are <u>instruments</u>. RCW 62A.3-104. <u>Larson</u> itself confirms that at 353-54.

The Supreme Court should also accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because it is a matter of urgent public importance given that the simple check is one of the most common forms of written contract in use in our society, with checks being used in conjunction with other contracts between the parties thereto, e.g., like the use of checks to repay the loans here made by Whitehead Enterprises to Stanford and Sons, the

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