FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/15/2023 9:34 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No.:1022875

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 56441-6-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Kenneth Wren & Alice Wren,

Petitioners (underlying Plaintiff/Counter-Defendants), vs.

Herbert L. Whitehead, III, Jennifer L. Whitehead, Southwest Enterprises, LLC, Mt. View Enterprise, LLC, Whitehead Consulting, LLC and Whitehead Enterprises, LLC;

Respondents (Underlying Defendants/Counter-Claimants)

Appealed from Pierce County Superior Court Case No. 20-2-04347-3

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITIONERS KENNETH AND ALICE WREN'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Fourth, Wren does not allege that the monthly payments Stanford and Sons made to Whitehead for services rendered between March 2016 and July 2019 constitute loans. CP 595. The only thing that changed between February 2016, the date of the alleged last loan, and March 2016, is that Brautigan stopped

⁵ Brautigan and Whitehead effectively earned the same amount of money during this time.

writing the word "loan" on the checks he wrote to Whitehead. *Id.* Stanford and Sons did not give Whitehead a W-2 or 1099 between 2016 or 2019 either. Wren essentially acknowledges that the payments to Whitehead from March 2016 through July 2019 are compensation for services rendered, yet claims the payments made before March 2016—for the same services rendered—are not compensation, but loans.

Fifth, Whitehead purchased and titled the Arizona home in Stanford and Sons' name in 2012. Presumably, if Whitehead owed Stanford and Sons money, he would have sought to offset the debt by the value of the Arizona home when he transferred it to Stanford and Sons.

In short, no money was ever loaned under the 2010 LOC. Stanford and Sons never kept an independent accounting of it and never made demand for payment. Now, with the 2010 LOC in the hands of Wren, he is seeking what would be a massive unentitled windfall. He wants to have Whitehead pay him millions of dollars in principal and interest, and to foreclose on Whitehead's family home.

II. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Wren argues that review should be granted under either RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (4). Each is addressed below.

A. The appellate decision does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.

This is a case about a niche evidentiary matter. Specifically, this case pertains to the extent that extrinsic evidence can be introduced to interpret the writing on the memo line of a check. Below, the Court of Appeals ruled that, on a motion for summary judgment, extrinsic evidence can be introduced to show an intent that was not captured within the memo line of a check. Wren argues that the holdings in *Berg v Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990) and *Hearst Commc 'ns v. Seattle Times Co.*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 503-504, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) applies to checks, and under such an application, the memo line of a check is conclusive as to the

check's purpose, that extrinsic evidence can only be introduced when the memo line of a check is ambiguous, and that even then, such extrinsic evidence cannot be used to show an intent outside of what is written on the memo line. The extent to which extrinsic evidence can be used to construe the memo line of a check on summary judgment is not an issue of substantial public interest.

When determining the degree of public interest involved in a matter put forward for review, courts consider (1) the public or private nature of the question presented, (2) the desirability of an authoritative determination for the future guidance of public officers, and (3) the likelihood of future recurrence of the question. *In re Post-Sentence in re Combs*, 353 P.3d 631, 631 (Wash. 2015); *In re Pers. Restraint of Mines*, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002). "As a fourth factor, courts may also consider the level of adversity between the parties and the quality of the advocacy of the issues." *Randy* Reynolds & Assocs. v. Harmon, 193 Wn.2d 143, 152-53, 437 P.3d 677, 682 (2019).

The four public interest factors weigh against a showing of substantial public interest in this case. First, the question presented is of a private nature, as it concerns the evidence that can be presented on summary judgement relating to funds transferred by private parties using a check. This matter does not involve statutory interpretation or government action, nor does it implicate any fundamental rights, constitutional or otherwise.

Second, there is a low desirability for an authoritative determination in this area. An authoritative decision on this question would offer guidance to judicial officers and attorneys. However, such a decision is not desirable under these circumstances. Given the limited space for writing on checks, courts will almost always have to employ extrinsic evidence to understand the scope of the agreement between the transacting parties. The evidence needed to ascertain this scope is likely to

vary on a case-by-case basis, depending on the complexity of the transaction, the relationship of the parties, and other circumstances. Trial courts are well situated to evaluate the scope of evidence needed to interpret these agreements on summary judgment, and a Supreme Court decision imposing a uniform evidentiary rule could be unduly oppressive. There is not a strong need for an authoritative determination of this issue.

Third, while this issue may reoccur, it is not likely to do so regularly. There is scant case law on this subject for a reason; it is rare that courts are faced with questions regarding the scope of extrinsic evidence that can be used to interpret the memo line of a check on summary judgment. That's why, despite *Hearst* being published over eighteen years ago, there is no case law on its application to this issue. This is further why Petitioner Wren relies so heavily on *In re Est. of Larson*, 71 Wn. 2d 349, 428 P.2d 558 (1967), a fifty-six-year-old case

about forgiveness of a debt, which as described below in more detail, is easily distinguishable.

Fourth, the parties in this case are similarly situated. Both litigants are reasonably sophisticated businessmen, with a history of success in the automotive industry. There is no issue of inequality between the parties that furthers a showing of substantial public interest.

None of the substantial public interest factors favor a review of this case by the Supreme Court. This is an esoteric evidentiary issue. A substantial public interest is not implicated by this case.

B. The appellate decision does not conflict with any decisions of the Washington Supreme Court or the Washington State Court of Appeals.

Wren claims that the Court of Appeal's decision conflicts with the following four cases: (1) *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990); (2) *Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times*, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005); (3) *In re*

Estate of Larson, 71 Wn.2d 349, 428 P.2d 558 (1967); and (4) *State v. J-Z Sales Corp.*, 25 Wn. App. 671, 610 P.2d 390 (1980). Wren's assertion is incorrect. *Berg* and *Hearst* have never been applied to checks; *Larson* is cited for a few sentences of dicta, does not elicit a hard and fast rule concerning the memo line in a check, and is distinguishable; and the facts and holding of *J-Z Sales* are entirely alien to the case at bar.

i. Berg and Hearst have never been applied to the memo line of a check, and therefore cannot conflict with the case at bar.

The case at bar does not conflict with the "context rule" of *Berg*, nor the more restrictive standard laid out in *Hearst*, as neither case applies when interpreting the memo line of a check. *Berg v. Hudesman*, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990), concerns the interpretation of the phrase "gross rentals," an undefined term in a lease for real property. *Berg*, 115 Wn.2d

at 672. Therein, the Court states that Washington follows the "context rule", under which:

[d]etermination of the intent of the contracting parties is to be accomplished by viewing the contract as a whole, the subject matter and objective of the contract, all the circumstances surrounding the making of the contract, the subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract, and the reasonableness of respective interpretations advocated by the parties.

Id. at 667 (quoting Stender v. Twin City Foods, Inc., 82 Wn.2d 250, 510 P.2d 221 (1973)). Berg further goes on to state that "[the] acceptance of accountings and payments over a period of years may be considered as an aid to ascertainment of the intent of the parties. It is well established that subsequent acts and conduct of the parties to the contract are admissible to assist in ascertaining their intent." Id. at 677-78; Stender, 82 Wn.2d at 254.

Berg does not relate to an instance of interpreting the memo line of a check. Rather, these cases relate to the interpretation of long-form contracts. The Court of Appeals

decision identified this correctly, and declined to extend the Berg/Hearst line of cases to checks.

Similar to Berg, the case at bar does not conflict with Hearst, as the rules of contract interpretation espoused thereunder have also never been applied to interpret the memo line of a check. Hearst Commc'ns, Inc. v. Seattle Times, 154 Wn.2d 493, 115 P.3d 262 (2005) is a successor case to Berg, which narrows the circumstances in which extrinsic evidence can be introduced to interpret a contract. Hearst concerns a dispute between two newspapers, the Seattle Times, and the Seattle PI, which pooled the cost of their operations under a Joint Operating Agreement (the "JOA"). Id. at 496-97. The JOA provided that, if one of the papers suffered losses for three consecutive years, they could move to terminate the JOA. *Hearst*, 154 Wn.2d at 498. The Times employed this provision, and Settle PI sued, claiming that the force majeure clause of the JOA prevented a termination for losses which occurred due to force majeure events. Hearst, 154 Wn.2d at 499. In

interpreting the JOA, this Court ruled that the *Berg* "context rule" does not mean that extrinsic evidence is always admissible when interpreting a contract. *Id.* at 503-04. Rather, surrounding circumstances and other extrinsic evidence can "be used to determine the meaning of specific words and terms used and not to show an intention independent of the instrument or to vary, contradict or modify the written word." *Id.* at 503; *Hollis v. Garwall, Inc.*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 695-96, 974 P.2d 836 (1999). The *Hearst* Court went on to apply this rule to allow extrinsic evidence to interpret the force majeure rule, finding that it was insisted upon by the Seattle Times and only pertains to liability between the two parties.

Distinguishing *Hearst* is the same as distinguishing *Berg*, it has never been applied to interpret the memo line of a check. The focal point of *Hearst* is that the subjective intent of the parties is ignored if it is not reflected in the words of the contract at issue. However, the memo line of a check is so brief that it rarely, if ever, captures the full intent of the contracting parties. The contracting parties must therefore routinely look to extrinsic evidence to determine their intent relating to a check. Under those circumstances, it would be a bridge too far to apply the *Hearst* rule to the writing on check memo lines, as doing so would bar the parties from introducing their full intent relating to the check.

In fact, Wren must necessarily introduce extrinsic evidence to correlate the various checks, issued over approximately 6 years (2010-2016), back to the 2010 LOC (executed in 2010). The checks themselves do not contain interest rates or repayment terms. It cannot simply be concluded that each of those checks relates back to the 2010 LOC—especially in light of the fact that Stanford and Sons failed to keep an accounting of the alleged loans in the first place. It was Wren's so called "expert" that located the checks and concluded that they all relate to the 2010 LOC. This is in itself extrinsic evidence.

ii. Wren relies on dicta from *Larson*, a fifty-sixyear-old case in which the legal issue revolved around handwritten notes by and between the parties—not a check.

Wren cites *Larson* as though it is a landmark case on the interpretation of checks. A close reading demonstrates otherwise.

In re Estate of Larson, 71 Wn.2d 349, 428 P.2d 558 (1967) concerns whether Larson forgave a loan to one of his children, Clifford, before he passed away. The initial loan to Clifford was evidenced by a check for \$8,500.00 which Larson delivered to him, with the words "as loan" written on the memo line. *Id.* at 350. The following year, and shortly before the death of Larson, Clifford wrote Larson a note which stated:

Dad

It looks like you are going to be pretty well kept under watch so I'll try to let you know this way rather than start a fuss. I am wondering what to do about the check you wrote for the land last year, if you want it payed (sic) back now, I'll go to the bank, because I have heard some rumers (sic) that the Cancelled Check will be used on me on account of the size on it, If you could, I would like

to have the Cancelled Check which I may need for income tax reasons, but I don't know how you want to handle this now. I don't dare wait any longer before doing something.

Id. at 350-51. Larson then wrote the following on the back of the same piece of paper:

Keep it No Return Maby Pay Income Tax will try and find check Hur and Cleo got lawyers in Van Cover to stop my Bank Biss in Wibaux Mont.

Id. Following a bench trial, not summary judgment, the trial court made seven findings of fact, including that "[o]n April 10, 1963, Henry L. Larson made an open account loan to his son, Clifford S. Larson, in the amount of \$ 8,500.00." *Id.* at 351. The rest of the findings of fact, and the vast majority of *Larson*, concern whether the two notes exchanged between Clifford and Larson constituted a forgiveness of the loan, or instead, a gift. The Larson Court wrote that:

In essence, the question presented on this appeal is whether the note from Henry L. Larson to his son Clifford constituted a valid forgiveness of the loan he had previously made to his son. The contention of appellant that the transaction did not constitute a loan in the first instance is without merit. The words "As Loan" on the face of the check in the handwriting of decedent is unequivocal and supports the finding of the trial court in that regard.

Id. at 353. Thus, the legal question before the Larson Court was not whether the words written on the memo line of a check is binding on a party, but instead, whether the two notes, exchanged between father and son demonstrated an intent to forgive the loan. The Larson trial court concluded, after a bench trial, that the check was in fact intended as a loan. The Supreme Court took no issue with that and did not disturb that ruling. That is the only component of *Larson* that even touches on the check. The "written instrument" referred to in Larson is not the check, but instead, the notes exchanged between father and son. Thus, there is no holding, as Wren would suggest, that the words written in a check memo line are binding and controlling contracts.

iii. The case at bar does not conflict with J-Z Sales.

State v. J-Z Sales Corp., 25 Wn. App. 671, 610 P.2d 390 (1980), is cited by Wren as an example which "relates to accord

and satisfaction, where the creditor will be bound by the memo line of a check reading 'payment in full,' even if that depositing creditor indicates his disagreement with the same." Petitioner's Brief at p. 26. Wren then goes on to state that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the holding of *J-Z Sales*.

Beyond its status as a case which relates to accord and satisfaction, *J-Z Sales* is easily distinguishable from the case bar. Chiefly because the eventual deposit of the check in *J-Z Sales* was preceded by a drawn-out period of dispute and negotiations between the parties. The *J-Z Sales* Court considered these negotiations in its interpretation of the check and did not ground its ruling solely in the language found on the check's memo line.

J-Z Sales is not a case about being bound by the words of a memo line when interpreting the purpose of a check, nor is it about the scope of extrinsic evidence that the can be employed to interpret an instrument. Rather, *J-Z Sales* pertains to when the deposit of a check will trigger an accord and satisfaction

when debtor and creditor are disputing an unliquidated obligation arising from the sale of goods. There is no conflict between the decision of the Court of Appeals and *J-Z Sales*.

iv. Review should not be granted on judicial estoppel grounds.

As Division II accurately points out, "the trial court did not make any conclusions regarding judicial estoppel." 5/9/23 Opinion, p. 15. "Judicial estoppel is an equitable doctrine that precludes a party from asserting one position in a court proceeding and later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position." *Arkison v. Ethan Allen, Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 535, 538, 160 P.3d 13, 15 (2007). Below, the Court of Appeals declined to apply judicial estoppel to statements that were made by two distinct parties in separate court proceedings. 5/9/23 Opinion, p. 17-20. Petitioner does not cite any case law that Division II's opinion contradicts. There is no reason to grant review on judicial estoppel grounds.

CONCLUSION

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